

# 

**Citation:** Ferguson MC, Bartsch SM, O'Shea KJ, Thomas DM, Moran TH, Solano Gonzales M, et al. (2022) The potential epidemiologic, clinical, and economic impact of requiring schools to offer Physical Education (PE) classes in Mexico City. PLoS ONE 17(5): e0268118. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0268118

**Editor:** Ferman Konukman, Qatar University College of Education, QATAR

Received: January 8, 2021

Accepted: April 22, 2022

Published: May 6, 2022

**Copyright:** © 2022 Ferguson et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

**Data Availability Statement:** All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

Funding: This work was supported in part by the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality https://www.ahrq.gov (AHRQ; via Grant No. R01HS023317)(BYL), U.S. Agency for International Development https://www.usaid.gov (under Agreement No. AID-OAA-A-15-00064) (BYL), and the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National **RESEARCH ARTICLE** 

# The potential epidemiologic, clinical, and economic impact of requiring schools to offer Physical Education (PE) classes in Mexico City

Marie C. Ferguson<sup>1,2</sup>, Sarah M. Bartsch<sup>1,2</sup>, Kelly J. O'Shea<sup>1,2</sup>, Diana M. Thomas<sup>3</sup>, Timothy H. Moran<sup>4</sup>, Mario Solano Gonzales<sup>1</sup>, Patrick T. Wedlock<sup>1,2</sup>, Sindiso Nyathi<sup>1</sup>, Matthew Morgan<sup>1</sup>, Kevin L. Chin<sup>1,2</sup>, Sheryl A. Scannell<sup>1,2</sup>, Daniel L. Hertenstein<sup>1</sup>, Molly Domino<sup>1</sup>, Kushi Ranganath<sup>1</sup>, Atif Adam<sup>1</sup>, Katherine Tomaino Fraser<sup>5</sup>, Adam Fraser<sup>5</sup>, Bruce Y. Lee<sup>1,2</sup>\*

1 Public Health Informatics, Computational, and Operations Research (PHICOR), CUNY Graduate School of Public Health and Health Policy, New York City, NY, United States of America, 2 Center for Advanced Technology and Communication in Health (CATCH), CUNY Graduate School of Public Health and Health Policy, New York City, NY, United States of America, 3 Department of Mathematics, United States Military Academy West Point, West Point, NY, United States of America, 4 Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, Johns Hopkins School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States of America, 5 Laureus Sport for Good Foundation, New York City, NY, United States of America

\* bruceleemdmba@gmail.com

# Abstract

# Background

Many schools have been cutting physical education (PE) classes due to budget constraints, which raises the question of whether policymakers should require schools to offer PE classes. Evidence suggests that PE classes can help address rising physical inactivity and obesity prevalence. However, it would be helpful to determine if requiring PE is cost-effective.

# Methods

We developed an agent-based model of youth in Mexico City and the impact of all schools offering PE classes on changes in weight, weight-associated health conditions and the corresponding direct and indirect costs over their lifetime.

# Results

If schools offer PE without meeting guidelines and instead followed currently observed class length and time active during class, overweight and obesity prevalence decreased by 1.3% (95% CI: 1.0%-1.6%) and was cost-effective from the third-party payer and societal perspectives (\$5,058 per disability-adjusted life year [DALY] averted and \$5,786/DALY averted, respectively, assuming PE cost \$50.3 million). When all schools offered PE classes meeting international guidelines for PE classes, overweight and obesity prevalence decreased by 3.9% (95% CI: 3.7%-4.3%) in the cohort at the end of five years compared to no PE. Long-term, this averted 3,183 and 1,081 obesity-related health conditions and deaths, respectively and averted  $\geq$ \$31.5 million in direct medical costs and  $\geq$ \$39.7 million in societal

Institute of Child Health and Human Development https://www.nichd.nih.gov (Grant Nos. U01HD086861 and 5R01HD086013-02)(BYL), and by National Institute of General Medical Sciences https://www.nigms.nih.gov (NIGMS) via the Models of Infectious Disease Agent Study https:// midasnetwork.us (MIDAS) network under grant R01GM127512 and 1 R01 GM127512-01A1 (BYL) as well as by the National Science Foundation https://www.nsf.gov proposal number 2054858 (BYL), the National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences of the National Institutes of Health https://ncats.nih.gov via award number U54TR004279 (BYL, DMT). This project was also funded by the Laureus Sport for Good Foundation or Laureus Sport for Good https://www.laureus. com/sport-for-good (BYL). Two members of the Laureus Sport for Good Foundation served as authors and assisted with the study, otherwise none of the study sponsors had any role in the study design, collection, analysis, and interpretation of data, writing the report, nor the decision to submit the report for publication. This study was approved by the Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health IRB (#IRB #00006667). Statements in the manuscript do not necessarily represent the official views of, or imply endorsement by, the NIH, AHRQ, or HHS.

**Competing interests:** NO authors have competing interests

costs, assuming PE classes cost  $\leq$ \$50.3 million over the five-year period. PE classes could cost up to \$185.5 million and \$89.9 million over the course of five years and still remain cost-effective and cost saving respectively, from the societal perspective.

# Conclusion

Requiring PE in all schools could be cost-effective when PE class costs, on average, up to \$10,340 per school annually. Further, the amount of time students are active during class is a driver of PE classes' value (e.g., it is cost saving when PE classes meet international guidelines) suggesting the need for specific recommendations.

# Introduction

Many schools have been cutting physical education (PE) classes due to time, space, and budget constraints, which raises the question of whether policymakers should require PE classes in schools. For example, in the United States, the number of states requiring PE in elementary schools dropped from 43 in 2012 to 39 in 2016, and the number of states requiring PE in junior high dropped from 41 in 2012 to 37 in 2016 [1]. But will such cost cutting measures end up costing society much more? After all, studies have shown that PE classes can increase children's physical activity and improve short-term health outcomes such as weight [2–8].

Since policymakers and school officials have many competing priorities for funding, they could benefit from better understanding what the cost-effectiveness of mandating PE class in schools may be. Moreover, most of the existing studies have focused on the short-term health effects of PE classes and not the longer-term ones such as the impact on the risk of health conditions such as cardiovascular disease and cancer, which should be accounted for when making policy decisions with a broader societal perspective.

The Laureus Sport for Good Projects Deportes Para Compartir and Proyecto Cantera in Mexico City represented an opportunity to address this question. Because of their work on these projects, Laureus sought to identify the key drivers behind low physical activity levels in Mexico City (e.g., approximately 40% of youth do not meet the World Health Organization's [WHO] physical activity (PA) guidelines [9]), which contribute to the upward trends in obesity prevalence among school age children[10]. In fact, in 2016 Mexico had the highest prevalence, globally, of overweight or obesity among youth (e.g., 33.2%) [11,12]. Further, it has been identified that less than half of schools in Mexico City offer PE classes [13], despite it being a required subject [14]. Therefore, one of the questions that emerged was whether Mexico City should begin mandating that schools offer regular PE classes. In order to answer this question, we developed a computational simulation model representing four districts in Mexico City to determine if requiring PE in schools would be cost-effective and if so, how much each school could invest in PE classes and still remain cost-effective. Different simulation runs helped identify what some of the major drivers of cost-effectiveness may be and how this value may change when considering how PE classes may affect children's PA beyond their school time.

# **Methods**

# Model structure

Our Virtual Population for Obesity Prevention (VPOP) model is a geo-spatially explicit agentbased model written in the Python programming language [15–17]. We represented four



#### Fig 1. Model diagram.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0268118.g001

districts in Mexico City (Benito Juárez, Cuauhtémoc, Miguel Hidalgo, and Coyoacán) as well as all homes, schools, and PA locations (parks and gyms). The model also includes a virtual representation of every school-age student between the ages of 6 and 18-years (total of 218,163 agents in the four districts, one for each student based on the actual student population in the four districts, according to Mexico's 2010 census [18]). Each agent is assigned an age, sex, starting height and weight, and socioeconomic status, as well as a corresponding home and school location from a synthetic population to generate a human agent database (similar to that of the United States [19]). As shown in Fig 1, the model proceeds in one-day time steps for five years and simulates each agent going about their day, similar to real students in Mexico City, representing their diet, including food and drink consumption, as caloric intake. We determined the caloric intake for individuals based on obesity prevalence trends and then compared the caloric intake of agents (ranging up to approximately 2800 calories/day) to the typical caloric intake for children [20] and saw that it was similar. On school days, agents may or may not be able to participate in PE depending on whether or not the school offers it and if it is on the schedule for that day. If the agent's school offers PE on a particular day, the agent would participate in activities for a proportion of each class, such as teams sports like soccer, basketball and volleyball, or running/jogging which correlates to moderate-to-vigorous PA, averaging 6 metabolic equivalents (METS) [21]. METS are the mass-specific rate of energy expenditure while participating in PA.

At the end of each school day, agents decide whether or not to participate in after school PA events, such as a team sport or unorganized play (see S1 Appendix). Each after school PA event (e.g., a single sports practice session or game) lasted 100 minutes [22], and requires an average intensity of 6 METS [21]. Agents consider various socio-cognitive and environmental factors (e.g., social support, finances, time, proximity to PA location) which affect their probability for participating in after school PA (S1 Appendix) [12,23–52] PE could also increase the likelihood of students being physically active outside of the PE class itself by increasing social norms to be physically active (e.g., if they see their peers active during class then they are more likely to participate in after school PA). On non-school days, agents do not have an opportunity to participate in PE but still make a decision about whether or not to participate in PA [53].

At the end of each day, PA results in the agent expending calories based on the intensity/ duration of the PA and the agent's current body weight. Agents maintained their caloric intake regardless of PA. As described in previous publications, an age- and sex-specific metabolic model embedded in each agent then converts caloric intake/expenditure into changes in fat mass, fat-free mass, and body mass index (BMI) [15,54,55].

When each agent reaches age 18 years old, the agent assumes one of 15 mutually exclusive states in a Markov model described in our previous publications [15,56] (See Supporting Information for descriptions of the different states.) Each simulated year, each student has state-, age-, and sex-specific probabilities of staying in the same state or transitioning to another state. While in a given health state, each simulated year, an individual has probabilities of developing various obesity-related health outcomes: stroke, coronary heart disease (CHD), type 2 diabetes, and cancers such as breast cancer, cervical cancer, colorectal cancer, esophageal cancer, kidney cancer, pancreatic cancer, stomach cancer, and uterine cancer for females, and colorectal cancer for males. These probabilities draw from distributions based on the person's underlying risk factors including sex and current age, health status, and BMI. Each simulated year, the person has an age-, sex-, and health state-specific probability of transitioning to the death state. These probabilities come from the WHO Global Health Observatory [57], while the probability of mortality associated with different health outcomes such as cancer, coronary heart disease (CHD) and strokes (S1 Appendix) come from the scientific literature.

#### **Economic measures**

The third-party payer perspective includes direct medical costs (e.g., medications, outpatient visits, hospitalizations), while the societal perspective includes direct and indirect (i.e., productivity losses due to presenteeism) costs. Annual income attenuated by disability weights for an individual's health condition served as a proxy for productivity losses. All individuals accrue productivity losses, regardless of age or employment status, as everyone is assumed to contribute to society.

For each scenario, we calculated the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER) as:

 $ICER = (Cost_{PE \ Classes} - Cost_{No \ PE \ Classes})/(Health \ Effects_{No \ PE \ Classes} - Health \ Effects_{PE \ Classes})$ 

where health effects are measured in disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs). DALYs are the

sum of the years of life lived with disability (YLD) and years of life lost (YLL) due to obesity outcome-related deaths. YLL and YLD are calculated as:

YLD = Number of Incident Cases \* Disability Weight \* Average Duration in Years

YLL = Number of Deaths \* Life Expectancy at Age of Death in Years

If an individual had more than one health outcome, the outcome with the highest costs and health effect superseded the others (e.g., if an individual developed both stroke and CHD, the costs and disability weights associated with CHD would be accrued). All costs are reported in net present value (NPV) 2021 \$US, converting all past and future costs using a 3% annual rate. Similarly, all future DALYs are presented in NPV, discounted with a 3% rate. We considered PE classes to be cost-effective if the ICER was less than or equal to Mexico's gross domestic product (GPD) per capita (i.e.,  $\leq$ \$8,597 [58]) per DALY averted, following Mexico's guide to evaluating health supplies [59], and economically dominant if it saved costs and provided health effects (e.g., cost saving).

#### Data sources

S1 Appendix show the key model input parameters, values, and sources. All data came from the scientific literature or international databases. After school PA locations in Mexico City (e.g. parks, gyms, school grounds) were retrieved from Open Street Maps [60]. Currently observed PE class frequency and proportion of time students are physically active during PE class based on an observational study [13]. As previously described [15,56], state transition probabilities came from mid-sized and large longitudinal studies including (see S1 Appendix).

To convert pesos to \$US, we first discounted costs to 2021 values using a 3% discount rate, then used the exchange rate (20.5 pesos/dollar, which was the average for 2021 as of November 12 [61]). In the absence of cost data specific to Mexico or a comparable country, we used the cost of treating the specific health conditions in the US as a proxy (S1 Appendix). To convert these costs into the cost of healthcare goods and services for these health conditions in Mexico, we first discounted them to 2021 values and then applied a ratio calculated using comparative price levels from the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) for a representative basket of healthcare goods and services between the two countries [62]. In order to adjust for the difference in costs in years after diagnosis with cancer or end-stage renal disease (ESRD), we calculated the ratio of first year costs compared to subsequent year costs in the US and applied this ratio to the first year costs in Mexico. Annual income came from the reported national quarterly income which includes other benefits (e.g., fringe benefits, pensions) in addition to formal wages [63]. Disability weight values came for obesity-related outcomes came from the Global Burden of Disease 2019 [64].

#### **Experiments and sensitivity analyses**

We evaluated the clinical and economic outcomes of implementing PE classes in Mexico City. Each experiment consisted of simulating agents' (218,163 students ages 6 to 18 years) day to day PA, consumption, and metabolic outcomes for a duration of five years, then subsequent clinical and economic outcomes for the remainder of their lifetime (beginning at age 18). For the adult portion of the model, each simulation sent an 18-year-old through the Markov model and Monte Carlo simulations (i.e., probabilistic sensitivity analyses) consisting of 1000 trials simultaneously varying each parameter throughout their ranges (i.e., distributions, which account for variation and uncertainty in a value parameter across the population; S1 Appendix).

Our initial scenario assumes PE classes were not offered by any school in Mexico City, while experimental scenarios represented PE classes. Our initial PE scenario assumed that PE classes would occur once a week and last 40 minutes each class in primary schools and twice a week lasting 40 minutes each class in secondary schools. The scenario assumed for each class males would remain physical active during 32% of the class and females remain active for 26% of the class, based on qualitative and quantitative observations of PE classes in Mexico City [13,65]. The percent of time students remain active during the class is likely due to a combination of the curriculum, the instructor as well as the student's motivation, self-efficacy, and selfperception. Subsequent experiments increase the amount of time students are active to represent changes to curriculum or their potential motivation or self-perception to participate or be active. The next PE scenario implemented PE classes that meet international PE recommendations (120 minutes of PE curriculum a week for primary schools and 180 minutes of PE curriculum a week for secondary schools, with students active for 50% of class) [66] in all schools. Sensitivity analyses varied the probability that students would choose to participate in after school activity based on whether they and their peers had participated in PE classes, and the cost of PE classes. We varied the cost of PE, total NPV over 5 years, from \$42,032,248 to \$50,333,172, and includes PE teacher wages and PE curriculum and equipment [67,68].

#### Results

# Impact of requiring PE and not meeting class guidelines compared to no PE in schools

If all schools in Mexico City offered PE classes that did not meet international PE recommendations, overweight and obesity prevalence decreased by 1.5% (95% CI: 1.2%-1.8%) among males and 1.2% (95% CI: 0.76%-1.56%) among females compared to when there were no PE classes (overweight and obesity prevalence was 30.65% [95% CI: 30.58%-30.72%]). Across the lifetime of the population, PE classes averted 608 cases of cancer, 317 deaths due to cancer, 412 cases of CHD, 46 deaths due to heart attacks, and 99 strokes. Fig 2 shows the number of clinical outcomes, including different cancer types, with and without PE for males and females per 100,000 individuals. This allows us to compare how this early childhood intervention compares to other types of cancer prevention measures. When PE classes cost \$42.0 million over the 5 years for all the schools (average \$38,811 per school), this intervention was cost-effective from the third-party payer and societal perspectives, costing \$3,595/DALY averted and \$2,866/ DALY averted, respectively. PE classes cost \$4,744/DALY averted from the third-party payer perspective and \$4,004/DALY averted from the societal perspective when costing \$46.3 million over the 5 years. This increased to \$5,786/DALY averted and \$5,058/DALY averted (thirdparty payer and societal perspectives, respectively) when costing \$50.3 million. PE classes could cost up to \$56.1 million and remain cost-effective and up to \$27.4 million and still provide cost savings (societal perspective).

<u>Table 1</u> shows the total number of weight-related clinical outcomes, deaths and the corresponding economic outcomes for the simulated population.

# Impact of requiring PE and meeting class guidelines in all schools compared to no PE in schools

When all schools in Mexico City offered PE classes that met international recommendations for a PE curriculum, overweight and obesity prevalence decreased by 3.9% (95% CI: 3.7%-4.3%) among males and 4.0% (95% CI: 3.6%-4.4%) among females in the cohort at the end of 5 years. Long-term, this averted 1,788 cases of cancer and 941 deaths from cancer, 1,126 cases of



Fig 2. Cancer, stroke, and coronary heart disease (CHD) outcomes for males and females when no schools offer physical education (PE) classes and when requiring PE classes per 100,000 persons.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0268118.g002

CHD, 128 deaths due to heart attacks, and 270 strokes. However, there were 18 additional deaths from strokes among males due to individuals losing weight, living longer, and having more time, and a higher probability of developing negative health outcomes. When PE classes cost \$42.0 million (total over 5 years; average \$38,811 per school), they saved \$39.9 million in direct medical costs and \$48.0 million in societal costs, when they cost \$50.3 million, they saved \$31.5 million in direct medical and \$39.7 million in societal costs. PE classes could cost up to \$81.8 million over the 5 years and still be cost saving and up to \$177.3 million to still be cost-effective from the third-party payer perspective (and up to \$89.9 million and \$185.5 million, respectively, from the societal perspective). Fig 3 shows the potential societal cost savings of PE class for different PE scenarios when varying the cost of implementing PE.

#### Table 1. Clinical and economic outcomes when no schools offer physical education (PE) classes and when requiring PE classes.

	Weight-related health outcomes	Weight- related deaths	Disability-adjusted life years (DALYS)	Cost of PE classes	Direct medical costs due to weight-related outcomes	Productivity losses due to weight-related outcomes	Total societal costs
No PE classes	155,055	46,121	487,153.21	-	\$4,010,214,129	\$518,696,480	\$4,528,910,608
PE classes in all schools, not meeting guidelines	153,936	45,750	476,034.37	50,333,172	\$3,928,336,046	\$510,527,231	\$4,489,196,449
PE classes in all schools, meeting guidelines	151,871	45,039	483,366.01	50,333,172	\$3,981,794,993	\$515,937,633	\$4,548,065,798
PE classes affecting after school physical activity	150,385	44,529	470,760.52	50,333,172	\$3,889,928,195	\$88,524,846	\$4,446,926,447

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0268118.t001





https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0268118.g003

When PE classes influenced out-of-school PA, compared to no PE, overweight and obesity prevalence fell by 5.6% (95% CI: 5.3%-5.9%) among males and 6.1% (95% CI: 5.7%-6.5%) among females in the cohort at the end of 5 years. This averted 2,635 cancer cases, 1,389 deaths due to cancer, 1,639 cases of CHD, 187 deaths due to heart attacks, and 395 strokes across the simulated youth population in Mexico City, saving \$69.9-\$78.3 million in direct medical costs and \$81.9-\$90.3 million in societal costs, varying with the cost of PE classes (\$42.0-\$50.3 million). PE classes could cost up to \$101.6 million over the 5 years and still provide cost savings and up to \$2.9 billion and still remain cost-effective from the third-party payer perspective (\$111.8 million and \$2.9 billion, respectively, from the societal perspective).

# Discussion

Our study shows that requiring PE in all schools could be cost-effective when PE class costs, on average, up to \$10,340 per school per year. This \$10,340 figure would be higher than the cost of holding PE class in Mexico City, as it is higher than a PE teacher's annual salary plus the cost of PE equipment. Our study shows that simply evaluating and accounting for the impact of PE on short-term outcomes, misses the downstream health benefits of PE classes that may take longer to manifest. To our knowledge, this is the first study demonstrating both the short and long-term health and economic benefits of requiring PE classes. Previous studies have primarily focused on the impact of PE class affects students' fitness (e.g., endurance, strength) [2–6]. Thus, our study adds to the current body of evidence to inform decision-making at the local, regional, and national level about how to invest in PE classes, given that there are many other competing priorities in schools.

Experimental scenarios revealed that a major driver of the cost-effectiveness of PE classes was the amount of time students remained active during each PE class. For example, when students are active for 50% of the class (e.g., schools met the international guidelines), PE classes would be cost saving (saving \$39.7 million in societal costs). This showed that simply requiring PE classes may not be enough. After all, a study by Jennings-Aburto et. al of PE classes in Mexico City found that students may remain sedentary for more than 70% of a given PE class [13]. Therefore, our study suggests the need for specific guidelines regarding both the length of classes and amount of time students are active during the class. Further, strategies to monitor adherence need to accompany these guidelines to ensure students meet the recommended levels of PA during a given PE class.

Further, our study showed that PE classes could provide even more value when they resulted in students being more physically active outside of school. For example, accounting for PE's potential influences on PA behaviors outside the classroom, could save an additional \$42.3 million in societal costs and avert an additional 1,485 obesity-related health conditions. Thus, PE class curriculums may want to focus, for example, on demonstrating to students how to modify the activity or sport for participation at home or at a park, and teaching students to continue these activities outside of school. One example of this type of curriculum is the sports education model, which is a PE curriculum designed to develop students into "competent, literate, and enthusiastic players" by providing direct instruction, cooperative and peer learning which allows students to share the responsibility for things like practice strategies and their team's success [69]. While research has demonstrated the short-term benefits of the sports education model on physical fitness and students' motivation to participate in PA [70,71], to our knowledge, our study is the first to demonstrate that a program that can result in sustained PA engagement across the lifetime could lead to even greater health and economic benefits.

#### Limitations

All models are simplifications of reality and cannot include all possible factors affecting the impact of PE class on direct and indirect medical costs. When calculating body weight changes, we assumed that participation in PE on a given day did not affect students energy intake (e.g., diet) or students participation in additional PA, as there is no evidence of a compensatory effect of PE class [72]. Our study focused on only four districts within the city, all of which are centrally located which may limit generalizability of our findings to other districts and populations. However, many conditions in our model are not just specific to Mexico City. For example, childhood overweight and obesity prevalence is comparable to other urban areas in the United States and other countries. Further, there are similar opportunities for PE and

after school PA in school districts around the world and cuts to PE classes are occurring globally. Thus, our results and the principles of enhancing and expanding PE classes can be applied to other locations. While our model captures the health and economic benefits of PE, we did not account for other benefits of PE such as improved academic performance and improved social skills and emotional regulation.

### Conclusion

Our study shows that requiring PE in all schools could be cost-effective when PE class costs, on average, up to \$10,340 per school per year. The amount of time students remained active during each PE class was a major driver of the cost-effectiveness (e.g., it is cost saving when PE classes meet international guidelines), suggesting the need for specific guidelines regarding the length of the classes and amount of time students are active, as well as strategies to monitor compliance. Further, our study showed that PE classes could provide even more value when they resulted in students being more physically active outside of school.

# Supporting information

S1 Appendix. Supporting information for: The potential epidemiologic, clinical, and economic impact of requiring schools to offer Physical Education (PE) classes in Mexico City. (DOCX)

# Acknowledgments

The authors appreciate research assistance provided by Emil Hafeez, Nick Lehnertz, and Jamie Chen.

# **Author Contributions**

- **Conceptualization:** Marie C. Ferguson, Timothy H. Moran, Atif Adam, Katherine Tomaino Fraser, Adam Fraser, Bruce Y. Lee.
- **Data curation:** Kelly J. O'Shea, Patrick T. Wedlock, Sindiso Nyathi, Matthew Morgan, Kevin L. Chin, Kushi Ranganath, Bruce Y. Lee.
- Formal analysis: Marie C. Ferguson, Sarah M. Bartsch, Kelly J. O'Shea, Diana M. Thomas, Timothy H. Moran, Mario Solano Gonzales, Patrick T. Wedlock, Sindiso Nyathi, Matthew Morgan, Daniel L. Hertenstein, Molly Domino, Atif Adam, Bruce Y. Lee.

#### Funding acquisition: Bruce Y. Lee.

- Investigation: Marie C. Ferguson, Sarah M. Bartsch, Timothy H. Moran, Sindiso Nyathi, Sheryl A. Scannell, Kushi Ranganath, Katherine Tomaino Fraser, Bruce Y. Lee.
- Methodology: Marie C. Ferguson, Sarah M. Bartsch, Diana M. Thomas, Timothy H. Moran, Patrick T. Wedlock, Sindiso Nyathi, Matthew Morgan, Atif Adam, Bruce Y. Lee.
- **Project administration:** Marie C. Ferguson, Sarah M. Bartsch, Sheryl A. Scannell, Adam Fraser, Bruce Y. Lee.

Resources: Bruce Y. Lee.

**Software:** Mario Solano Gonzales, Matthew Morgan, Kevin L. Chin, Daniel L. Hertenstein, Molly Domino, Bruce Y. Lee.

- Supervision: Marie C. Ferguson, Sarah M. Bartsch, Timothy H. Moran, Sheryl A. Scannell, Daniel L. Hertenstein, Katherine Tomaino Fraser, Adam Fraser, Bruce Y. Lee.
- Validation: Marie C. Ferguson, Sarah M. Bartsch, Kelly J. O'Shea, Diana M. Thomas, Timothy H. Moran, Mario Solano Gonzales, Patrick T. Wedlock, Sindiso Nyathi, Matthew Morgan, Kevin L. Chin, Daniel L. Hertenstein, Molly Domino, Kushi Ranganath, Atif Adam, Katherine Tomaino Fraser, Adam Fraser, Bruce Y. Lee.
- Visualization: Marie C. Ferguson, Kelly J. O'Shea, Mario Solano Gonzales, Patrick T. Wedlock, Sindiso Nyathi, Matthew Morgan, Kevin L. Chin, Daniel L. Hertenstein, Molly Domino, Bruce Y. Lee.
- Writing original draft: Marie C. Ferguson, Sarah M. Bartsch, Kelly J. O'Shea, Diana M. Thomas, Timothy H. Moran, Mario Solano Gonzales, Patrick T. Wedlock, Sindiso Nyathi, Matthew Morgan, Sheryl A. Scannell, Daniel L. Hertenstein, Molly Domino, Kushi Ranganath, Atif Adam, Katherine Tomaino Fraser, Adam Fraser, Bruce Y. Lee.
- Writing review & editing: Marie C. Ferguson, Sarah M. Bartsch, Kelly J. O'Shea, Diana M. Thomas, Timothy H. Moran, Mario Solano Gonzales, Patrick T. Wedlock, Sindiso Nyathi, Matthew Morgan, Kevin L. Chin, Sheryl A. Scannell, Daniel L. Hertenstein, Molly Domino, Kushi Ranganath, Atif Adam, Katherine Tomaino Fraser, Adam Fraser, Bruce Y. Lee.

#### References

- 1. America S, editor Shape of the Nation 2016: Status of Physical Education in the USA 2016.
- Sallis JF, McKenzie TL, Alcaraz JE, Kolody B, Faucette N, Hovell MF. The effects of a 2-year physical education program (SPARK) on physical activity and fitness in elementary school students. Sports, Play and Active Recreation for Kids. Am J Public Health. 1997; 87(8):1328–34. Epub 1997/08/01. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.87.8.1328 PMID: 9279269; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC1381094.
- Scruggs PW, Beveridge SK, Eisenman PA, Watson DL, Shultz BB, Ransdell LB. Quantifying physical activity via pedometry in elementary physical education. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2003; 35(6):1065–71. Epub 2003/06/05. https://doi.org/10.1249/01.MSS.0000069748.02525.B2 PMID: 12783057.
- 4. Marshall JH K. The state and status of physical education in schools in international context. European Physical Education Review. 2000; 6(3):203–29.
- Kahn EB, Ramsey LT, Brownson RC, Heath GW, Howze EH, Powell KE, et al. The effectiveness of interventions to increase physical activity. A systematic review. Am J Prev Med. 2002; 22(4 Suppl):73– 107. Epub 2002/05/03. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0749-3797(02)00434-8 PMID: 11985936.
- Johnston LD, Delva J, O'Malley PM. Sports participation and physical education in American secondary schools: current levels and racial/ethnic and socioeconomic disparities. Am J Prev Med. 2007; 33(4 Suppl):S195–208. Epub 2007/10/27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2007.07.015 PMID: 17884568.
- Sollerhed AC, Ejlertsson G. Physical benefits of expanded physical education in primary school: findings from a 3-year intervention study in Sweden. Scandinavian journal of medicine & science in sports. 2008; 18(1):102–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0838.2007.00636.x PMID: 17490464
- Valentini NC, Nobre GC, de Souza MS, Duncan MJ. Are BMI, Self-Perceptions, Motor Competence, Engagement, and Fitness Related to Physical Activity in Physical Education Lessons? Journal of Physical Activity and Health. 2020; 17(5):493–500. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.2019-0532 PMID: 32303003
- Abúndez CO, Cázares GN, Cordero C, Zetina DAD, Angona SR, de Voghel Gutiérrez S, et al. Encuesta nacional de salud y nutrición 2006. Instituto Nacional de Salud Pública. 2006.
- Bonvecchio A, Safdie M, Monterrubio EA, Gust T, Villalpando S, Rivera JA. Overweight and obesity trends in Mexican children 2 to 18 years of age from 1988 to 2006. salud pública de méxico. 2009; 51: S586–S94. https://doi.org/10.1590/s0036-36342009001000013 PMID: 20464234
- Turnbull B, Gordon SF, Martínez-Andrade GO, González-Unzaga M. Childhood obesity in Mexico: A critical analysis of the environmental factors, behaviours and discourses contributing to the epidemic. Health psychology open. 2019; 6(1):2055102919849406. https://doi.org/10.1177/2055102919849406 PMID: 31205736

- Pérez A, Reininger BM, Aguirre Flores MI, Sanderson M, Roberts RE. Physical activity and overweight among adolescents on the Texas-Mexico border. Revista panamericana de salud pública. 2006; 19:244–52. https://doi.org/10.1590/s1020-49892006000400004 PMID: 16723065
- Jennings-Aburto N, Nava F, Bonvecchio A, Safdie M, González-Casanova I, Gust T, et al. Physical activity during the school day in public primary schools in Mexico City. Salud publica de Mexico. 2009; 51:141–7. https://doi.org/10.1590/s0036-36342009000200010 PMID: 19377741.
- González-Rivas RA, Núñez Enríquez O, Zueck-Enríquez MdC, Gastelum-Cuadras G, Ramírez-García AA, López-Alonzo SJ, et al. Analysis of the Factors That Influence a Quality Physical Education in Mexico: School Supervision's Perspective. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2022; 19(5):2869. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19052869 PMID: 35270561
- Lee B Y, Adam A, Falah-Fini S, Bartsch SM, Cheskin LJ, Wang PI, et al. Modeling The Economic And Health Impact Of Increasing Children's Physical Activity In The United States. Health Affairs. 2017; 36:902–8. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2016.1315 PMID: 28461358
- Lee BY, Ferguson MC, Hertenstein DL, Adam A, Zenkov E, Wang PI, et al. Simulating the Impact of Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Warning Labels in Three Cities. 2017. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.</u> 2017.11.003 PMID: 29249555
- Powell-Wiley TM, Wong MS, Adu-Brimpong J, Brown ST, Hertenstein DL, Zenkov E, et al. Simulating the Impact of Crime on African American Women's Physical Activity and Obesity. Obesity. 2017; 00:1– 7. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.22040 PMID: 29086471
- National Institute of Statistics and Geography (Mexico). Mexico Population and Housing Census 2010. Aguascalientes, Mexico: National Institute of Statistics and Geography (Mexico), 2011.
- Wheaton WD, Cajka JC, Chasteen BM, Wagener DK, Cooley PC, Ganapathi L, et al. Synthesized Population Databases: A US Geospatial Database for Agent-Based Models. Methods Rep RTI Press. 2009; 2009:905. https://doi.org/10.3768/rtipress.2009.mr.0010.0905 PMID: 20505787.
- Dietary Guidelines for Healthy Children: American Heart Association; 2021 [cited 2021 12/9/2021]. Available from: https://www.heart.org/en/healthy-living/healthy-eating/eat-smart/nutrition-basics/ dietary-recommendations-for-healthy-children. https://doi.org/10.3390/children8121135 PMID: 34943331
- 21. CDC. General Physical Activities Defined by Level of Intensity. 2000:71-80.
- Leek D, Carlson JA, Cain KL, Henrichon S, Rosenberg D, Patrick K, et al. Physical Activity During Youth Sports Practices. Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine. 2011; 165:294–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archpediatrics.2010.252</u> PMID: 21135319.
- Rivera JÁ. Review Childhood and adolescent overweight and obesity in Latin America: a systematic review. THE LANCET Diabetes & Endocrinology. 2014; 2:321–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587 (13)70173-6 PMID: 24703050
- Aceves-Martins M, Llaurado E, Tarro L, Sola R, Giralt M. Obesity-promoting factors in Mexican children and adolescents: challenges and opportunities. Glob Health Action. 2016; 9:29625. Epub 2016/01/21. https://doi.org/10.3402/gha.v9.29625 PMID: 26787421; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4718931.
- 25. Popkin BM. An overview on the nutrition transition and its health implications: the Bellagio meeting. Public health nutrition. 2002; 5(1A):93–103. https://doi.org/10.1079/phn2001280 PMID: 12027297
- Popkin BM. The nutrition transition in low-income countries: an emerging crisis. Nutrition reviews. 1994; 52(9):285–98. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-4887.1994.tb01460.x PMID: 7984344
- Barquera S, Campirano F, Bonvecchio A, Hernández-Barrera L, Rivera JA, Popkin BM. Caloric beverage consumption patterns in Mexican children. Nutrition journal. 2010; 9(1):47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/</u> 1475-2891-9-47 PMID: 20964842
- Astudillo O. Country in Focus: Mexico's growing obesity problem. The Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology. 2014; 2(1):15–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(13)70160-8 PMID: 24622663
- Salazar-Martinez E, Allen B, Fernandez-Ortega C, Torres-Mejia G, Galal O, Lazcano-Ponce E. Overweight and obesity status among adolescents from Mexico and Egypt. Archives of medical research. 2006; 37(4):535–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arcmed.2005.10.014 PMID: 16624655
- Piernas C, Barquera S, Popkin BM. Current patterns of water and beverage consumption among Mexican children and adolescents aged 1–18 years: analysis of the Mexican National Health and Nutrition Survey 2012. Public health nutrition. 2014; 17(10):2166–75. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S1368980014000998 PMID: 24866372
- Théodore F, Bonvecchio A, Blanco I, Irizarry L, Nava A, Carriedo A. Significados culturalmente construidos para el consumo de bebidas azucaradas entre escolares de la Ciudad de México. Revista Panamericana de Salud Pública. 2011; 30:327–34. PMID: 22124691
- 32. Rodríguez-Oliveros G, Haines J, Ortega-Altamirano D, Power E, Taveras EM, González-Unzaga MA, et al. Obesity determinants in Mexican preschool children: parental perceptions and practices related to

feeding and physical activity. Archives of medical research. 2011; 42(6):532–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.arcmed.2011.10.006 PMID: 22019411

- Tremblay MS, Barnes JD, Bonne JC. Impact of the Active Healthy Kids Canada report card: a 10-year analysis. Journal of Physical Activity and Health. 2014; 11(s1):S3–S20. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah. 2014-0167 PMID: 25426911
- Janssen I, Medina C, Pedroza A, Barquera S. Screen time in Mexican children: findings from the 2012 National Health and Nutrition Survey (ENSANUT 2012). salud pública de méxico. 2013; 55(5):484–91. https://doi.org/10.21149/spm.v55i5.7248 PMID: 24626619
- 35. Hutchens A, Soltero EG, Barquera S, Lévesque L, Jauregui E, López y Taylor J, et al. Influence of parental perception of school safety and gender on children's physical activity in Mexico: A cross sectional study. salud pública de méxico. 2016; 58(1):7–15. https://doi.org/10.21149/spm.v58i1.7662 PMID: 26879502
- Creighton MJ, Goldman N, Teruel G, Rubalcava L. Migrant networks and pathways to child obesity in Mexico. Social Science & Medicine. 2011; 72(5):685–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.12. 006 PMID: 21277058
- Ortiz PMT, Chairez SJ, Montaño FEM, Balderas LGL. Relation between the physical activity and obesity in schoolchildren. Revista Cubana de Medicina General Integral. 2012; 28(1):34–41.
- Perez-Rodriguez M, Melendez G, Nieto C, Aranda M, Pfeffer F. Dietary and physical activity/inactivity factors associated with obesity in school-aged children. Advances in Nutrition. 2012; 3(4):622S–8S. https://doi.org/10.3945/an.112.001974 PMID: 22798003
- Ruiz-Risueño Abad J, Ruiz-Juan F, Zamarripa Rivera JI. Alcohol y tabaco en adolescentes españoles y mexicanos y su relación con la actividad físico-deportiva y la familia. Revista Panamericana de Salud Pública. 2012; 31:211–20. https://doi.org/10.1590/s1020-49892012000300005 PMID: 22569695
- Morales-Ruán MdC, Hernández-Prado B, Gómez-Acosta LM, Shamah-Levy T, Cuevas-Nasu L. Obesity, overweight, screen time and physical activity in Mexican adolescents. salud pública de méxico. 2009; 51:S613–S20. https://doi.org/10.1590/s0036-36342009001000016 PMID: 20464237
- Hernández B, Gortmaker SL, Colditz GA, Peterson KE, Laird NM, Parra-Cabrera S. Association of obesity with physical activity, television programs and other forms of video viewing among children in Mexico City. International journal of obesity. 1999; 23(8):845–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijo.0800962</u> PMID: 10490786
- 42. Siegel SR, Malina RM, Peña Reyes ME, Cárdenas Barahona EE, Cumming SP. Correlates of physical activity and inactivity in urban Mexican youth. American journal of human biology. 2011; 23(5):686–92. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajhb.21197 PMID: 21688338
- 43. Jáuregui A, Villalpando S, Rangel-Baltazar E, Lara-Zamudio YA, Castillo-García MM. Physical activity and fat mass gain in Mexican school-age children: a cohort study. BMC pediatrics. 2012; 12(1):109. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2431-12-109 PMID: 22839498
- 44. Sabo D, Veliz P. Go Out and Play: Youth Sports in America. Women's Sports Foundation. 2008.
- 45. Datar A, Nicosia N, Shier V. Parent perceptions of neighborhood safety and children's physical activity, sedentary behavior, and obesity: evidence from a national longitudinal study. American journal of epidemiology. 2013; 177(10):1065–73. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kws353 PMID: 23579555
- 46. Bacha JM, Appugliese D, Coleman S, Kaciroti N, Bradley RH, Corwyn RF, et al. Maternal perception of neighborhood safety as a predictor of child weight status: The moderating effect of gender and assessment of potential mediators. International Journal of Pediatric Obesity. 2010; 5(1):72–9. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.3109/17477160903055911</u> PMID: 19606373
- Gustafson SL, Rhodes RE. Parental correlates of physical activity in children and early adolescents. Sports medicine. 2006; 36(1):79–97. <u>https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-200636010-00006</u> PMID: 16445312
- 48. Cheatom O. Parental Influence on Children's Physical Activity Motivation. 2014.
- Smith RE, Smoll FL. Coaching the coaches: Youth sports as a scientific and applied behavioral setting. Current directions in psychological science. 1997; 6(1):16–21.
- 50. Smith RE, Smoll FL, Cumming SP. Effects of a motivational climate intervention for coaches on young athletes' sport performance anxiety. Journal of sport and exercise psychology. 2007; 29(1):39–59. https://doi.org/10.1123/jsep.29.1.39 PMID: 17556775
- Coatsworth JD, Conroy DE. Enhancing the self-esteem of youth swimmers through coach training: Gender and age effects. Psychology of sport and exercise. 2006; 7(2):173–92.
- Langan E, Blake C, Lonsdale C. Systematic review of the effectiveness of interpersonal coach education interventions on athlete outcomes. Psychology of Sport and Exercise. 2013; 14(1):37–49.

- Bailey R, Wellard I, Dismore H, editors. Girls' Participation in Physical Activities and Sports: Benefits, Patterns, Influences and Ways Forward. Benefits of Physical Activity—Technical Papers of the WHO; 2004.
- Rahmandad H. Human growth and body weight dynamics: an integrative systems model. PLoS One. 2014; 9(12):e114609. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0114609 PMID: 25479101; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4257729.
- Hall KD, Butte NF, Swinburn BA, Chow CC. Dynamics of childhood growth and obesity: Development and validation of a quantitative mathematical model. The Lancet Diabetes and Endocrinology. 2013; 1:97–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2213-8587(13)70051-2 PMID: 24349967.
- 56. Fallah-Fini S, Adam A, Cheskin LJ, Bartsch SM, Lee BY. The additional costs and health effects of a patient having overweight or obesity: a computational model. Obesity. 2017; 25(10):1809–15. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.21965 PMID: 28948718
- World Health Organization (WHO). Global Health Observatory data repository: Life tables by country Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization (WHO); 2020 [updated December 6, 2020; cited 2021 November 19]. Available from: https://apps.who.int/gho/data/view.main.61060.
- 58. GDP per capita (current US\$) [updated 11/23/21; cited 2021 11/8/2021]. Available from: https:// donnees.banquemondiale.org/indicator/NY.GDP.PCAP.CD?locale=null.
- Guía de Evaluación de Insumos para la Salud. Consejo de Salubridad General, 2017 December 2017. Report No.
- 60. Contributors O. Planet dump retrieved from https://planet.osm.org 2017 [cited 2017 11/15/2017].
- Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System. Foriegn Exchnage Rates H.10 Weekly Washington, DC: Federal Reserve System,; 2021 [updated November 15, 2021; cited 2021 November 22]. Available from: https://www.federalreserve.gov/releases/h10/20211115/.
- 62. Focus on Health Care Prices. 2020.
- INEGI. Encuesta Nacional de Ingresos y Gastos de los Hogares 2020 (ENIGH). Mexico City, MX: 2021.
- Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME). Global Burden of Disease Study 2019 (GBD 2019) Disability Weights. In: Global Burden of Disease Collaborative Network, editor. Seattle, Washington 2020.
- 65. López-Taylor J, Jáuregui-Ulloa E, González-Villalobos M. Physical Education in Mexico: Experiences and Trends Related with Physical Activity and Health.
- 66. McLennan NT J. Educación Física de Calidad: Guía para los responsables políticos: UNESCO; 2015.
- SPARK Equipment Packs: SPARK; 2021 [cited 2021 December 12]. Available from: <u>https://sparkpe.org/equipment</u>.
- 68. SPARK Curriculum: SPARK; 2021 [cited 2021 December 1]. Available from: https://sparkpe.org/ curriculum.
- Manninen M, Campbell S. The effect of the Sport Education Model on basic needs, intrinsic motivation and prosocial attitudes: A systematic review and multilevel meta-analysis. European Physical Education Review. 2021:1356336X211017938.
- **70.** Hastie PA, de Ojeda DM, Luquin AC. A review of research on Sport Education: 2004 to the present. Physical education and sport pedagogy. 2011; 16(2):103–32.
- Tendinha R, Alves MD, Freitas T, Appleton G, Gonçalves L, Ihle A, et al. Impact of sports education model in physical education on students' motivation: a systematic review. Children. 2021; 8(7):588. https://doi.org/10.3390/children8070588 PMID: 34356567
- 72. Kohl HW III, Cook HD. Educating the student body: Taking physical activity and physical education to school. 2013.